# Doing, being and becoming

Young people's processes of subjectivation between categories of age

Mona-Iren Hauge



Department of Psychology Faculty of Social Sciences University of Oslo 2009

# © Mona-Iren Hauge, 2009

Series of dissertations submitted to the Faculty of Social Sciences, University of Oslo No. 187

ISSN 1504-3991

All rights reserved. No part of this publication may be reproduced or transmitted, in any form or by any means, without permission.

Cover: Inger Sandved Anfinsen. Printed in Norway: AiT e-dit AS, Oslo, 2009.

Produced in co-operation with Unipub AS.

The thesis is produced by Unipub AS merely in connection with the thesis defence. Kindly direct all inquiries regarding the thesis to the copyright holder or the unit which grants the doctorate.

Unipub AS is owned by The University Foundation for Student Life (SiO)

# **Contents**

Foreword Acknowledgements Summary List of papers		iv
		v
		vi
		viii
1	Introduction	1
	1.1 Introduction to thesis	1
	1.2 Research focus and aim of thesis	
	1.3 Locating the research field	5
2	Background	7
	2.1 Introduction to developmental psychology	
	2.2 The missing body in psychological research	
	2.3 Young people's notions of being and becoming	11
3	Theoretical frameworks	13
	3.1 Bringing the body back	13
	3.2 Discourses, the body and subjectivity	
	3.3 Intersections of categories of identity in processes of subjectivation.	
	3.4 Reworking tools for analysing 'development'	20
4	The present study	22
	4.1 Întroduction	22
	4.2 Selection of schools and participants	23
	4.3 The school context as the site of study	25
	4.4 Life Mode interviews	26
	4.5 Longitudinal qualitative methodology	30
	4.6 Getting to know eachother through interviews	
	4.7 Studying and analysing processes of subjectivation	
	4.8 Reflections on trustworthiness, consistency and transferability	36
	4.9 Ethical considerations.	39
_	S	4 1
5	Summary of papers	
	5.1 Paper I	
	5.2 Paper II	
	5.3 Paper III	43

6	Discussion	
	6.1 Issues of power and agency	46
	6.2 What about power?	46
	6.3 What about agency?	48
7	Implications of study and concluding remarks	51
	7.1 Bringing the body back into psychology	
	7.2 Longitudinal methodology in study of processes in time	51
	7.3 Processes of subjectivation as development	
8	References	55
9	Paners I-III	

# **Foreword**

Although many of the initial research questions have been altered, some overall questions have stubbornly persisted since the study, from which this thesis departs, first saw the light of day. With regard to my own point of departure, I have always marvelled at what is the naïve and simple, yet immensely compelling question of how and why lives turn out the way they do. How do young people who are conceptualised and categorised as 'children' change, transform and carry on in ways that make them acquire a sense of themselves as 'adolescents'. How do they comprehend and give meaning to processes which in psychological textbooks are referred to as 'development'. How do they develop and how are they developed. Why do some children and adolescents seemingly become 'older' without effort while others get caught up in tense negotiations about who they are and who they may become. Reflections surrounding such questions have continuously spurred my interest and repeatedly evoked many theoretical, methodological and analytical challenges. The research questions raised in this thesis are thus academically anchored and academically framed, yet arise from a persistent personal interest in understanding the processes through which people change and transform across the life course. To this day, I still think these questions represent some of the most intriguing issues in the discipline of psychology.

# Acknowledgements

The study 'Children's social participation and development in their social transition between childhood and adolescence' was carried out at the Department of Psychology, University of Oslo (UiO), and funded by the Norwegian Research Council's Programme for Welfare Research. The second phase of the project, conducted as part of this PhD, was funded by the University of Oslo. The study was initiated by Professor Hanne Haavind (UiO), and Professor Liv Mette Gulbrandsen, Oslo University College. Hanne Haavind has been my supervisor on this thesis. I want to express my gratitude to her for letting me find my analytical direction and for always offering her time, knowledge and helpful guidance. I am forever indebted to her. While supervising the work for my master's thesis in psychology, Liv Mette Gulbrandsen has cosupervised my PhD. I want to thank her for encouraging me to continue for a PhD degree and for always sharing analytical knowledge and theoretical reflections. Thanks to Anne Kristin, Astrid, Catharina, Christina, Hilde, Kari, Marianne, Marit and Unni, fellow students who contributed to the study by conducting many of the interviews. I am grateful to the children who became adolescents during the course of the study who gave us their time and sincere enthusiasm. Thanks to Berit Ingvaldsen for transcribing many of the interviews and to Amanda Dominguez for help with proofreading.

The Department of Psychology (UiO) has been my base throughout these years and I have had the privilege of taking part in two of its research groups. The group *Culture and Society* consists of a rare constellation of people who share a profound interest in theory and critical reflection. Thanks for numerous intriguing discussions to Agnes Andenæs, Rolv Mikkel Blakar, Karsten Hundeide, Hilde Nafstad, Astri Heen Wold and all the others who have participated in the group. The research group in *Clinical Psychology* similarly offered many stimulating discussions. Colleagues have contributed with humorous comments and insightful reflections. Thanks to Lutine, Margrethe, Knut, Kjell, Aina, Kristin, Areana and Bettina for memorable lunches. I am grateful to Anne Jansen for discussing theoretical challenges and to Hanne Sogn who provided valuable comments on the papers.

Thanks also to close friends and to Knut for unwavering support, and to my family for practical help and encouragement. Last but not least, all my love to the three women in my life, my mother Anne-Lise and my daughters Kaia and Sigrid, who by their mere presence have provided me with the commitment and endurance I needed to pursue this work to its end.

Oslo, February 2009 Mona-Iren Hauge



## Summary

This thesis explores and details the processes through which children constitute and are constituted as adolescents. The papers presented in the thesis examine how young people acquire a sense of themselves within categories of age and how such processes call attention to the body. In doing so, the thesis attends to the body in two ways; first, it illuminates the way young people conduct and deploy their bodies when constituting themselves within and against categories of age. Second, it explores how notions of the body that are embedded in discourses of gender which prevail in contexts such as schools affect how young people behave as well as how they are perceived by their surroundings. The data on which the papers are based consist of qualitative interviews collected as part of a longitudinal study of the social transition between childhood and adolescence among 32 children in a multicultural neighbourhood in Oslo, Norway. All the participants were interviewed repeatedly, first through the course of two years (between the ages of twelve and fourteen), new interviews being conducted in their final year in secondary school (at the age of sixteen) and finally some in their second year of upper secondary (at the age of eighteen). The data on which the thesis is based consist of nearly 180 qualitative interviews; all conducted over a period of seven years.

In particular, the papers address three overall research questions. The first question relates to how intersecting categories such as gender, age, ethnicity and sexuality, as embedded in discourses, influence possible ways of being and becoming as an adolescent boy or girl. The second question concerns how young people *use* and *deploy* their bodies when constituting themselves within discourses that address such categories of identity. The third question has to do with developmental psychology and how feminist post-

structural theory and research provide analytical framework for understanding the processes through which young people become who they are. Drawing on perspectives from this theoretical field, the papers in this thesis offer a way of understanding the processes through which children and adolescents constitute themselves and are constituted as adolescents. One of the arguments pursued in the importance of elaborating new theoretical concepts and analytical tools to better account for the complexity in processes often referred to as *development*. The papers in the thesis outline a frame of knowledge that differs radically from the notions of development proposed in conventional psychology which assert that human development is manifested by the emergence of transformations, many of which are assumed to be caused by biological maturation. The onsets of such transformations are often assumed as occurring within time intervals referred to as categories of age. Thus, age is posited as the chronological marker of the intervals in which *development*, i.e., a particular transformation, is expected to occur. The result of representations like these in which biology and age intersect, is that adolescence is framed as merely a passage between childhood and adulthood.

All the papers in the thesis attend to age by focusing on the body; how children and adolescents perform, style and deploy their bodies and how notions of the body, as embedded in discourse, affect ways of being and becoming of age. In different ways, the papers illuminate how young people constitute and are constituted within categories of age through practices on and with the body. The argument pursued in the thesis is that to further knowledge of the processes through which children acquire a sense of themselves as adolescents, the body, both as notions embedded in discourse and as practice, needs to be the focus of inquiry.

# List of papers

# Paper I

Hauge, M.-I. (2009). Bodily practices and discourses of hetero-femininity: girls' constitution of subjectivities in their social transition between childhood and adolescence. *Gender and Education*, 21(3), 293 – 307.

# Paper II

Hauge, M.-I. and Haavind, H. (forthcoming). Boys' bodies and the constitution of adolescent masculinities. *Sport, Education and Society*.

# Paper III

Hauge, M.-I. (2008). The transformation of self from 'child' to 'adolescent': young people's processes of subjectivation between categories of age. Manuscript submitted for publication.

#### 1 Introduction

#### 1.1 Introduction to thesis

This thesis examines the processes through which children constitute and are constituted as adolescents. In exploring these processes, it offers a frame of knowledge that particularly attends to how children conduct their bodies. It focuses on the bodily practices young people perform with the aim of becoming 'older', and it explores discourses, the systems of meanings which young people negotiate and interpret when making sense of themselves and their surroundings. The thesis details how the constitution of oneself as an adolescent involves continuously negotiating possible ways of *being* and possible ways of *becoming* as a particular boy or girl. Notions of ways of being and becoming an adolescent girl or boy are embedded in discourses young people deploy and encounter. When, however, young people constitute senses of themselves as children and adolescents, they not only negotiate ways of being and becoming with regard to age, but also deal with intersecting notions of categories of identity such as gender, sexuality and ethnicity that are embedded in the many discourses that the young people and their surroundings draw on.

The papers presented here are based on interviews conducted as part of a longitudinal qualitative study where 32 children from a multi-ethnic primary school in Oslo were interviewed repeatedly in the course of several years. The aim of the study was to examine the children's participation and development in their social transition between childhood and adolescence. In a Norwegian educational setting, this involves the transition between primary school (*barneskole*, for 6 to 12-year-olds) and secondary school (*ungdomskole*, for 13 to 16-year-olds). The study was later extended to include

new interviews in the final year at secondary school and subsequently some in the second year at upper-secondary level (16-19-year-olds). The study explored the means by which children constitute and are being constituted as adolescents, particularly picking up on issues elaborated by participants in the interviews: issues such as whether to wear the Muslim headscarf, hetero-romantic relationships or the mastery in physical endeavours such as football.

When we investigate how young people 'come into being' as adolescents, one approach is to explore how notions of age are embedded in the discourses they deploy and how they relate to these. In contexts such as schools, discourses that refer to age can be viewed as meaning-systems that address ways of being and becoming. For instance, while children are expected to 'act childish' and to conduct their bodies in ways considered common for children, the category *adolescent* similarly presupposes certain ways of conducting the body, while rendering other ways of deporting the body impossible. Such a framework allows us to see style, appearances and sports as bodily practices through which the person is positioned within the many discourses that address notions of age and gender. Through the performance of some practices rather than others, young people constitute themselves and are constituted as subjects; they are recognised as adolescents and hence no longer children. Conversely, since discourses of childhood embed notions of the body that differ from the body as embedded in discourses of adolescence, young people are expected to behave differently from children, and are accordingly expected *not* to conduct their bodies like children or adults do. In this way, discourses affect how young people think, act and feel and how they continuously negotiate ways of being. Moreover, since discourses that concern categories of age such

as *adolescence* often intersect with other categories, such as gender, ethnicity and sexuality, children encounter and negotiate expectations that not only concern ways of becoming with regard to age generally, but also ways of becoming as an adolescent boy or a girl of a certain age, ethnicity, religion and sexuality, etc. The outlined framework allows us to see discourses that prevail in contexts such as schools (e.g. the discourse of adolescence as a time of storm and stress) as influencing the processes through which children acquire senses of themselves and become adolescents. And it allows us to see the practices children conduct on and with their bodies as ways of being recognised as subjects.

#### 1.2 Research focus and aim of thesis

This thesis addresses three issues in particular. First, it examines the 'passage', i.e. the temporal processes through which children become adolescents. While most researchers in the field of developmental psychology and childhood studies acknowledge processes of change and transformation as temporal, surprisingly few studies are designed with the aim of following young people over the time such processes may take. In applying a longitudinal qualitative methodology, the study on which this thesis is based was designed with the intention of examining the social transition of children between childhood and adolescence. Beginning from when the children who participated in the study were twelve years of age, the study was planned as a longitudinal qualitative study with repeated interviews conducted over the course of several years. This meant that some of the participants in the study were engaged for up to seven years. The papers in the thesis all demonstrate the significance of applying a methodology that includes time

when furthering knowledge of the processes through which young people become who they are. Thus, applying a longitudinal qualitative research design when studying the processes through which children become adolescents has enabled studying how young people craft their sense of themselves and become who they are and the temporal dimensions of these processes.

The second issue addressed in this thesis pertains to how children 'become' adolescents. In detailing such processes, the thesis offers a comprehension of the processes through which young people become who they are which radically departs from the explanations asserted within conventional psychology. Here, transformations and changes are posited as owing to biology that takes place *within* the body, thus leaving the body as what Shilling (2003, p. 179) has referred to as 'an absent present'. The papers in this thesis explicitly counter the comprehension of adolescence as a time of transformation proceeding from within the biological, yet unarticulated, body. In addition to depriving young people of the agency and effort invested in these processes, the framework suggested in most developmental theory also neglects the way they negotiate *when* and *how* such transformations may occur. As a result, little focus has been directed at how young people actively deploy their bodies in the processes through which they become who they are. This thesis calls attention to the body in that bodily practices and ways of deporting the body serve as analytical entrances to the study of processes of becoming.

The third issue addressed in the thesis concerns the significance of elaborating conceptual frameworks which provide new ways of understanding processes that within psychology usually are referred to as 'development'. For instance, concepts such as

subjectivity and processes of subjectivation are in the thesis used to cover many of the processes often referred to as 'development', pointing to a post-structuralist frame of knowledge not usually applied in developmental psychology. In this thesis, concepts such as processes of subjectivation refer to the temporal processes through which subjects acquire a sense of themselves inseparable from the many comprehensions of being and becoming as embedded in discourses. The papers in the thesis suggest that young people's subjectivity, i.e. their 'sense of a self' (Staunæs, 2003 p. 103), comes about through bodily practices such as style, gestures and ways of shaping the body – practices that are deployed with the aim of constituting the young person within or against discourses that prevail across the many contexts in which they interact. Through addressing these issues, the papers in the thesis provide a conceptual framework of how children become adolescents which offer new insights into these processes.

#### 1.3 Locating the research field

Research on children and adolescents comprises a number of different research traditions. From my background in psychological scholarship I was familiar, although always somewhat uneasy, with the epistemology on which conventional developmental psychology was based; for its tendency to produce normative and 'normalising' discourses of development (McNaughton, 2005), its use of methods which posit children as objects (Torstenson-Ed, 2007) and its holding an ontology of children in which they are believed to passively develop (Burman, 1994, 1997, 1998, 2008).

In contrast to the frameworks included in conventional developmental psychology, research emerging from adjacent disciplines such as education and childhood studies

have to a larger degree developed frames of knowledge that emphasise the social contexts through which children and adolescents become who they are. This may not be a surprise since, for example, childhood studies was created as a critique of the fundamental assumptions on which developmental psychology is based (Jipson, 2001). However, despite the much-cited critique raised against developmental psychology (see Burman, 1994, 1996, 1998, 2008; McNaughton, 2005; Morss, 1996), the discipline has nevertheless maintained a focus on processes of change and transformation, both theoretically and empirically, thus emphasising the significance of temporality when attempting to comprehend the processes through which young people become who they are. The temporal dimension of social life is present both in theorisation (see e.g., Horowitz, 1987; Lerner, 1986) and research. In contrast, research emerging from fields such as childhood studies are accused of 'lacking a time perspective' (Torstenson-Ed, 2007, p. 62), thus producing temporal 'snapshots' (Berthoud, 2000) of children and adolescents. However, I have become more convinced of the potentials of both perspectives; developmental psychology for acknowledging temporal dimension of social life and childhood studies for its openness to theories and research from a number of disciplines. The papers in this thesis thus draw on theory and research emerging from a number of overlapping disciplines. This is theorisation which not particularly attends to children and adolescents, and research which uses methodologies other than those applied in the present study. The analyses presented in the papers thus combine and rework knowledge from different research traditions when investigating the processes through which young people acquire a sense of themselves and their surroundings.

# 2 Background

# 2.1 Introduction to developmental psychology

One notion of adolescence that prevails in many western societies is it as a time of transformation that prepares children for their lives as adults. This notion is embedded in discourses that metaphorically render adolescence as a stormy passage; in comes the innocent child who is to undergo significant transformation before finally being transformed to become a proper adult. What actually takes place during this passage from childhood to adulthood is framed as unsettling, whether it is hormonal flux or detachment from parents. The comprehension of adolescence as unsettling goes back to Stanley Hall, who in 1904 argued adolescence as a time of storm and stress (Arnett, 1999). The problem with this discourse is that it asserts that children are incomplete and adults-in-the-making (Thorne, 1993, p. 3). For the child who is to become an adolescent, failure to adhere to the notion of transformation as embedded within these discourses is rendered impossible, since *change* and *destabilisation* are outlined as 'natural' processes that proceed regardless of the young person's active participation. This 'psychological slant on youth' has informed much subsequent research within social sciences and social policy (Bradley, 1996, p. 161).

A second problem with the representation of adolescence embedded in the 'storm and stress' discourse, is that it assumes the change and transformations that may take place as mainly due to biology. Lesko (2001, p. 7) details this framework and its effects:

The natural view of adolescence that grounds most of psychology, medicine, and policy-making assumes that young people between the ages of 12 and 18 have

naturally occurring, largely biological generated characteristics, behaviours, and needs. In this view biology is destiny, in that the adolescent body with hormone-induced growth spurt creates psychological, emotional, and interpersonal problems as young people and those around them respond to the physical and psychological changes. This adolescent is outside society and history, and the important concepts and issues are intra-individual, defined largely by the knowledge of psychology, medicine and, to a lesser extent, sociology and education. The theoretical perspective is a developmental framework, often discussed at stages of cognitive, psychosocial, or pubertal growth, out of which youth's need can be determined.

In *being* this biomedical entity, so to speak, young people's ways of acting, thinking and feeling are explained through discourses that embed notions of adolescence as a time when biology causes mood-swings and instability: 'She is really difficult these days, a typical adolescent'. Although this framework posits the shift between the age categories 'child' and 'adolescent' as to the result of a biological storm, however, the shift between 'adolescence' and 'adulthood' is often framed as a phase in which the storm settles. Where the adolescent is posited as unstable and irrational, the adult is constructed as the peak of productive and rational responsibility and thus positioned as what may be seen as the top of the life course maturation graph. Such applications of concepts as *childhood* and *adolescence* are nevertheless usually used in ways that assert changes and differences between those times of life as mandatory (Lesko, 2001, p. 196).

## 2.2 The missing body in psychological research

Many of the questions that surround human development are old, some with roots in ancient Greece and the traditions of Western philosophy (Lerner, 1986). This particularly applies to the body and how it is represented within psychological scholarship. When Descartes (1596 – 1650) formulated the distinction between the mind and the body, often referred to as the mind-body dualism, he maintained a distinction running back to Plato that has had an immense impact on how the body is conceived within psychology in general and developmental psychology in particular. Descartes's philosophical starting-point was how humans come to know the world and how reliable our knowledge of the world is (Paechter, 2003, 2006). Viewing the body as separate from thought and reason, which he located in the mind, Descartes outlined the body as independent of the mind. This approach of distinguishing the mind and the body solved an epistemological problem between two substances: *res extensa* (the physical world) and *res cogito* (thinking) (Smith, 2007). Given this distinction, sense of self became a derivate of the thinking subject, fundamentally located in the mind in ways that left the body redundant (Paechter, 2006).

Within the field of psychology, the 'stubborn philosophical problem' (Crossley, 2001, p. 1) of the Cartesian legacy of the mind and body has had an immense impact on research and theorisation within developmental psychology. For instance, the focus on the mind is particularly evident in theories that assert that child development takes place due to biological maturation in which improved capacities precede higher forms of reasoning (Cole & Cole, 1996). Such representations of development thus 'locates' development in the mind. Although it is present, the body is seldom explicitly addressed.

As a site for higher forms of reason, the mind is instead maintained as distinguishable and different from the body. This 'absent presence' body is evident in many developmental psychological textbooks, as the following excerpt illustrates:

Modern theory in developmental psychology is based on biological and social insights from evolution, from embryology, from our understanding of processes of physical growth, from social, linguistic, and cultural processes. As a scientific discipline, one of its major concerns is with the origins of knowledge and the contributions of self-initiated and social factors to cognitive growth.

(Butterworth & Harris, 1994, p. 31)

Since psychological scholarship has become a discipline that studies the mind when attempting to understand behaviour, and has its foundation in a natural scientific epistemology, it is accused of neglecting the body (Finlay, 2006). Thus, whilst recent years have seen a 'corporal turn' in academia (Braun, 2000), which posits the body a focus of research instead of an implied presence in the background (Davies, 1997), this turn has remained remarkably absent from psychological scholarship. In viewing the body in a broad sense, however, one exception is the field of neuro-psychology which attempts to yield an understanding of the body in focusing on cellular and molecular mechanisms. The goal of this research is to be able to explain phenomena located in the 'mind' (such as memory) in biological terms. As Smith (2007, p. 150) suggests, this can be seen as a way of exceeding the 'Descartesian ghost of dualism', since this research somewhat paradoxically renders the mind no longer separate from the body, but rather as

part of the body. Moreover, although some research emerging from the discipline of psychology does focus on the body, the meanings attached to representations of the body have largely been neglected (Woollett & Marshall, 1997). Neither has the body been the focus of much theoretical enquiry (Budgeon, 2003).

Although the body in recent years has attained an increased interest within social sciences and childhood studies, the field of psychology continues to disregard the body as socially and subjectively meaningful, thus overlooking the body's non-biological significance. Moreover, neglecting the body other than as a biological unit within psychological research also relates to how the category age is treated in research (Bradley, 1996). Subsequently, how young people acquire senses of themselves as adolescents through ways of deporting their bodies has yet to receive the attention it deserves.

#### 2.3 Young people's notions of being and becoming

A frequent notion embedded in the interview sequences that comprise the empirical data on which this thesis is based is that of the transition between childhood and adolescence as a regular, progressive and continuous transition from one age category to the next. This notion of *becoming* can be seen as a discourse that prevails across the contemporary contexts in which children and adolescents interact. When making sense of the here and now, as well as the years ahead, children and adolescents make use of this discourse. The discourse of becoming also influences young people as they get older. Many describe a notion of regular progression such as improved mastery of particular skills which follows with the becoming of age. The categorical and stepwise division of age which

mark much developmental psychology thus manifests itself in how young people think of the processes through which they come about as adolescents; they negotiate and enact the cumulative progression which developmental psychological theories assert. Thus, one of the major criticisms of developmental psychology is that the discipline produces *regimes* of truth that manifest themselves in notions through which people make sense of themselves and others (McNaughton, 2005).

#### 3 Theoretical frameworks

#### 3.1 Bringing the body back

Ways of conducting the body as a means of expressing age are evident when we observe pupils in the school yard. Children and adolescents use their bodies when participating in social practices with peers; they deport their bodies and perform practices that make them appear boyish, girlish, as children and as adolescents. The practices young people perform on their bodies and with their bodies thus embed meanings that go beyond the particular practice and the particular situation. They can be thought of not as randomly performed, but as constitutive in that they contribute to make the subject a particular person.

In analysing the interview sequences with the boys and girls who participated in the study as part of my Master's degree in Psychology, I became interested in the way many of the girls would address their bodies. In particular, many would describe practices such as ways of dressing or negotiations of ways of conducting the body in terms of what they considered appropriate or inappropriate. These were practices I interpreted as ways of making oneself come of age, many of which the girls experienced as expected of them owing to their age. Through the performance of such practices the girls *became* adolescents in that they themselves and their surroundings no longer conceived them as children (Hauge, 2001, 2003). In other words, they could be viewed as practices through which the girls constituted gender, this in ways which also concerned age. Not only did the girls perform practices which were considered usual for girls, but practices which were considered common when performed by girls of a certain age (and could be added, ethnicity). The performance of practices not previously performed could thus be

understood as transforming the girls from being recognised as children towards being recognised and acknowledged as adolescents. In other words, they could be viewed as practices through which the girls constituted intersections of gender and age which transformed them from being children towards becoming adolescents.

It was this thread of analysis which finally directed my attention to the body, and the ways the young people who participated in the study used their bodies when *making* or *constituting* themselves as adolescents. The many interviews revealed descriptions of self that maintained the body and sense of self as inextricable linked. Thus, unlike notions of the mind and the body as separate entities, the many interviews revealed descriptions of self that maintain the body and sense of self as inextricably linked; the *me* and sense of self were often articulated as inseparable from the body, as expressed in utterances like: 'I am a girl who always has been a bit boyish, I dress like a boy and I walk like a boy'.

When starting the analyses for the second paper in this thesis, I decided to examine how the boys who participated in the study articulated their bodies and the notions of the young male body that were embedded in these descriptions. Although I had devised an analytic framework from previous analyses, it nevertheless took some time to notice how the body remained far more absent in the interviews with the boys. This related not only to the fact that references to the body were far more implicit or absent in the interviews conducted with the boys when aged twelve to fourteen, but also that the boys in these interviews would draw on discourses that embedded notions of the body which were very different from those many girls would deploy. For instance, when some of the boys would emphasise the importance of mastery in sports, it was not only the enjoyment of the practice itself (such as playing football), but also the practice as a way of becoming a

boy of a certain age, and thus as capable of certain endeavours not expected of younger boys. Bodily practices were constitutive in the sense that they produced or confirmed the subject as a boy of a certain age. Through some practices he would become a particular boy of a particular age within the many discourses of masculinity that prevailed in contexts such as schools.

When elaborating such tools to help make sense of processes usually referred to as 'development' accounting for the body, I first turned to theories that were familiar from earlier analyses of qualitative interviews. I soon found, however, that these theories, which can broadly be referred to as *social constructionism* and *cultural psychology*, to be limiting in terms of the analytical focus I gradually developed. The following sections briefly explain the theoretical frameworks that throughout the study have provided tools that subsequently guided the analyses. The understandings these theoretical perspectives offer, when reworked and transformed in combination with issues and descriptions embedded in the interviews, provided a basis for elaborating how children and adolescents constitute a sense of self as adolescents. Perspectives from these theories have drawn attention to how the body, both as practice and as embedded in discourse, enters into the processes through which the young people constitute themselves and by others are constituted as adolescents.

#### 3.2 Discourses, the body and subjectivity

The term *discourse* refers to 'a set of meanings, metaphors, representations [...] that in some way together produce a particular version of events' (Burr, 1995, p. 48) or, as Youdell (2006a, p. 2) suggests, 'meanings that frame social contexts'. Discourses can

thus be thought of as prevailing meanings which people use to interpret and make sense of themselves and others. Following such a comprehension of discourse, the person's sense of self is seen as constituted through and within a multiplicity of discourses that are deployed in the many contexts of social interaction. For Foucault, a central aspect was that discourses had the effect of producing truths about what is considered 'normal' and 'common', 'unnatural' or 'deviant'. On this basis, discourses of adolescence can be understood as producing 'normalising truths', many of which young people encounter as expectations regarding what is 'common' of them owing to their age and gender.

Foucault suggests that these processes involve the subject as an actor who influences and shapes the context as well as being acted upon by the context (Foucault, 1990). When Foucault theorises that subjects are constituted through discourse, he sees discourses as having the power of regulating ways of being. Here, some ways of being are accepted as 'normal' whereas others are rejected or considered troublesome. When Michel Foucault uses the concept of subjectivity, he refers to 'the way a human being turns him- or herself into a subject', an active self-formation that takes place on people's bodies, and interferes with how people think and act (Rabinow, 1984, p. 11). Through such processes, Foucault suggests that discourses are *inscribed* on the body. He rejects the distinction between the body and subjectivity and the idea of the soul being within the body. Instead he argues that 'the inner self' is produced through its inscriptions *on* the body (Butler, 1999a, p. 311). Describing what he sees as *docile bodies* Foucault (1984, p. 179) uses the soldier as an illustration of how such inscriptions come about:

To begin with, the soldier was someone who could be recognised from afar; he bore certain signs: the natural signs of his strength and his courage, the marks, too, of his pride; his body was the blazon of his strength and valour; and although it is true that he had to learn the profession of arms little by little – generally in actual fighting – movements like marching and attitudes like the bearing of the head belonged for the most part to a bodily rhetoric of honour.

By learning attitudes like the bearing of the head, discourses are inscribed at the same time as the bearing of the head in a certain manner simultaneously *cites* a discourse. The subject becomes like the soldier through ways of deporting the body.

In her writings, Judith Butler (1990, 1993) builds on Foucault's notion of discourses as productive in constituting subjectivity. She foregrounds the body and suggests viewing gender as performance and subjectivity as constituted through the recitation of bodily practices, like ways of deporting the body, gestures, etc. Discourses thus may appear in articulations, i.e. they are deployed in daily speech, and they may also be cited in practices such as gestures, ways of deporting the body and ways of dressing. Butler also emphasises that subjects are performatively constituted to make sense as subjects. By this she means that ways of performing the body must then be intelligible within discourse for the subject to be recognised as a particular subject. Put simply, particular discourses of masculinity make the practices through which some boys constitute their bodies as strong and muscular intelligible. When some of the girls style their hair, nails and lips, this can be read as ways of constituting themselves as subjects within discourses of hetero-femininity while they at the same time are being subjected to

these very same discourses. Similarly, performances that do not make sense may fail to constitute a subject within the boundaries such as those represented in arenas such as schools (Youdell, 2006c, p. 45). The papers in the present thesis draw on theorisation and research emerging from feminist post-structuralist writing and research, and elaborate a framework of processes that are often referred to as 'development' within conventional psychology. In suggesting the body is a site on which discourses are inscribed, the papers in this thesis all suggest seeing children or adolescents as performing such inscriptions in ways that constitute them within or according to discourses which they deploy and encounter.

## 3.3 Intersections of categories of identity in processes of subjectivation

Discourses that prevail across the contexts in which children interact embed meanings that relate to several categories of identity. Discourses of hetero-femininity embed different meanings owing to intersections of categories such as gender, age, ethnicity, religion, sexual orientation and so on. What is considered 'usual' and 'expected' of a girl will, for instance, change with age. For instance, while childhood is asserted as a time of 'sexual innocence' (Renold, 2005), many discourses claim adolescence is a time of sexual exploration. Discourses of sexuality thus address diverse notions of 'what is usual' depending on the different intersections of gender, age and sexuality embedded in them. Identity categories thus produce differences in how people understand themselves (Staunæs, 2003). A girl of a certain age and sexual orientation may understand herself according to intersections of categories such as gender, age and ethnicity: 'I am a young girl, half Chinese and half Norwegian'. Since, however, the different constellations of

categories of identity produce different meanings; a young girl who is lesbian may perceive herself and be perceived by others differently from a girl who is heterosexual. In other words, the different *intersections* of categories produce different subjects and subjectivities.

Although the papers in this thesis detail how different intersections of categories affect and provide possible ways of being an adolescent boy or girl, it is particularly the intersections of categories of age and gender, and to some extent sexuality and ethnicity that are detailed in the analyses. In addition to gender categories, categories of age are the most salient category of identity through which subjects are differentiated and institutionalised throughout their lives. Institutions such as kindergarten, primary, secondary, and upper secondary schools all attend to the special needs and capacities the different ages are assumed to entail. The problem with this is that differences and variations of subjects are subdued, whereas resemblance based on age are emphasised. Thus, since age is used as a benchmark of certain characteristics, it is more often than not recognised as a category left unquestioned. Burman (1998, p. 213) calls attention the lack of contextualisation of age as a category of identity:

Age, the marking of time on bodies, seems to lie outside culture, within biology. Like gender, 'race', class and sexuality, age plays a key part in the organization of social relations, and, like these, differential treatment is typically justified by the appeal to 'nature'. But while assumptions about gender, 'race', class and sexuality are now being increasingly understood as social constructions that are historically

and culturally contingent, age, and in particular 'the child', seems particularly intransigent to this contextual analysis.

A common failing of frameworks that position age as lying outside culture is that they ignore age as discursive categories that in addition to entailing different meanings across contexts and time are also performed and understood differently by children and adolescents. As suggested in this thesis, when children constitute themselves as 'adolescents', and as *different* from who they are when positioned as 'children', they make use of such discourses of age. One way of conceptualising this is to say that children actively *use* and *draw* on discourses of age when negotiating their ways across contexts and time.

#### 3.4 Reworking tools for analysing 'development'

The term *feminist post-structuralism* refers to a number of perspectives that have in common approaches to personhood and subjectivity in ways that radically depart from the comprehension offered by conventional psychology. For instance, research that applies feminist post-structural perspectives has provided empirical analyses that have led to a rethinking of the body (Budgeon, 2003; Burkitt, 1999; Crossley, 2001; Frost, 2001, 2005; Gill, Henwood & McLean, 2005; Shilling, 2003, 2005; Staunæs, 2003; Søndergaard, 1996; Youdell, 2006c). In bringing the body back into research as other than a biological unit, these analyses have detailed how children and adolescents constitute senses of themselves through ways of deporting their bodies (see e.g. Nayak & Kehily, 2006; Staunæs, 2004, 2005; Youdell, 2004, 2006a,b,c). Particular to analyses that

applies feminist post-structural perspectives is that many have called attention to how *gender* is constituted through ways of performing the body.

The papers in this thesis, however, have a slightly different aim from the above research. First, while much research that draws on feminist post-structural perspectives usually calls attention to how gender intersects in processes of subjectivation, it is the categories of *child* and *adolescence* that are particularly fore-grounded in this thesis. Second, although research that applies feminist post-structural perspectives focuses on the conditions through which certain subjectivities become possible, few analyses explicitly address temporality. In this present thesis, then, perspectives from feminist post-structuralist theory are reworked and put together with the aim of accounting for processes often referred to as 'development'. The 'result' of this reworking is what may be seen as a feminist post-structural account of processes that within psychological scholarship often is referred to as development.

# 4 The present study

## 4.1 Introduction of study

The present thesis draws its empirical data from a longitudinal school-based qualitative interview study that took place in Oslo, Norway. The overall aim of the study was to examine children's social transition and development between childhood and adolescence. In a Norwegian context this transition is institutionalised by a change of school from primary (in Norwegian, *barneskole*, which can be translated as 'children school') to secondary (in Norwegian, *ungdomskole*, which can be translated as 'youth school'). Later, the project received a grant from the University of Oslo that enabled the inclusion of new interviews when the participants had attended upper secondary school. The aim of the study was to gain knowledge of how children, in the company of family, peers and teachers, entered into practices and drew on discourses that facilitated and encouraged their becoming of age.

Encouraged by cultural psychological conceptions of children as active in transforming and constituting themselves in ways which made them appear older and thus as different from children who were younger than they themselves, the study was particularly interested in how young people growing up in an urban multicultural context negotiated their becoming of age. We were interested in all the different practices the participants conducted in their everyday lives and paid particular attention to how they invented and reasoned such practices across contexts and time.

The study was initiated by Professor Hanne Haavind, University of Oslo and Professor Liv-Mette Gulbrandsen, Oslo University College. Together with a group of female students of ethnic Norwegian majority background from the professional

programme in psychology, we formed a research group that was introduced to qualitative methodology, discussed theory and co-analysed interviews. All had some experience of interviewing, and did also conduct test-interviews prior to the interviews with the participants in the study. In line with the running idea behind the *Life Mode interviews* which was the chosen interview style, the interviewers were particularly trained to maintain an explorative attitude, some of which is particularly important when studying issues the researcher is familiar with. All the students based their Master's thesis on the data collected in the study, all with their own specific research questions outlined in the different interview guides that were applied. The study was approved by the Norwegian Social Science Data Services (NSD) and received funding from the Norwegian Research Council's Programme for Welfare Research.

#### 4.2 Selection of schools and participants

The primary and secondary schools were selected on the basis of their location in a socially diverse neighbourhood in Oslo, the capital of Norway. Previously known as an area inhabited by industrial workers, this area has in recent years attracted families with immigrant backgrounds, and half of the schools' pupils are ethnic minorities. Meanwhile, particular parts of the area are popular among middle-class families of ethnic Norwegian majority backgrounds. Today this is a neighbourhood with an eclectic mix of people of different social, economic and ethnic belongings. As is usual in Norway, children enrol their local public primary school before proceeding to the secondary school which is usually located not far from the primary school. Both primary and secondary schooling are compulsory for all pupils. While primary education consists of seven years, lower and

upper secondary each consist of three years. Unlike the primary and secondary schools, upper secondary schools attend pupils from all over Oslo.

After gaining consent from the school authorities to conduct the study at the particular primary and subsequent secondary school, we informed the pupils' parents/guardians of the study and its aims. After visiting classes at the same primary school, an approximate total of 57 children, 32 of them (eighteen girls and fourteen boys) agreed to participate. Of these, one withdrew from the study, and one new participant was included during the course of the first two years. Extended funding allowed us to continue with the study, and the participants were asked to attend a further interview in their last year in secondary school of which sixteen accepted. The participants who had moved to other areas, and thus changed schools, were interviewed at their new school. In the first phase of the study, the participants were all interviewed by the same student researcher, and each researcher usually conducted the interview sequences with two of the participants. The interviews at upper secondary were conducted by me as a part of the work for this thesis.

One problem in many studies that apply a longitudinal research design is difficulty of keeping in touch with the participants. The Norwegian Social Science Data Services (NSD) permits researchers to contact participants without the parents' permission at the age of sixteen, so many were at this point contacted via mail or telephone. This did nevertheless raise some challenges, since many did not respond. In the second phase of the study, when the participants had reached the age of eighteen and were in their second year at upper secondary school, ten agreed to take part in two new interviews. Of these, three were friends of one of the participants (two boys who in a Norwegian context were

of ethnic minority background and one girl of Norwegian ethnic majority background). In terms of age, the participants were interviewed starting from the age of twelve until the year they would turn fourteen, with follow-up interviews when they were sixteen and some finally at the age of eighteen.

The participants were of different ethnic backgrounds. Approximately half of them were born or had parents born in an Eastern European, Asian or North African countries and the other half had Norwegian ethnic majority backgrounds. They differed in their social and economic circumstances as well as religious affiliation. The participants reflected the diversity which marks young people who grow up in contemporary urban contexts.

#### 4.3 The school context as the site of study

One way of viewing schools is as arenas in which categories of age and gender serve as the main social divider of young persons. This is particularly evident in the division of primary and secondary schools, but also in class divisions based on age. The aim of such divisions is to group young people according to expectations of competencies and abilities. Because age is the main category of identity which schools organise pupils according to, it is one of the main categories through which young people comprehend themselves in time and place. Children and adolescents encounter expectations of how to behave when at school and through school curriculums, from which they acquire sense of themselves and their surroundings.

Schools may be thought of as arenas that presuppose some subjectivities while excluding others (Youdell, 2006a), this in ways that concerns ways of deporting the body.

For instance, while some ways of conducting the body are considered usual at primary school, the very same practices will be referred to as childish while at secondary school. Thus, as Shilling (2003, p. 18) remarks, 'schools are not just places which educate the minds of children, they are also implicated in monitoring and shaping the bodies of young people'.

#### 4.4 Life Mode interviews

'If you want to know how people understand their worlds and their lives, why not talk to them?' With this simple, yet observant question, Steinar Kvale (2007) introduces his book *Doing Interviews*, which particularly elaborates upon the qualitative interview. There are a number of different approaches and techniques broadly referred to as qualitative interviews; what they have in common is that they are conversations with a structure and a purpose determined by the one who is responsible, i.e., the researcher (Kvale, 2007). In this study, we were particularly interested in the processes through which children constituted themselves across contexts and time and how they constituted senses of themselves across these contexts. The challenge arising from such a research focus was to structure the interviews so that they could generate insights into subjectivity and processes of subjectivation, which also had been noted by other researchers who deployed qualitative interviews in studies that run across time (McLeod, 2003). In addition, such a research focus called attention to whether qualitative interviews could provide the empirical data needed to further knowledge of the processes through which young people become who they are.

As one of the initiators of the project, Hanne Haavind previously had developed the Life Mode interview format (Haavind, 1987, 2003, 2007) and Liv Mette Gulbrandsen had many years' experience in using this format in research with children (Gulbrandsen, 1998, 2000, 2003, 2006) this particular interview format had demonstrated its usefulness in providing data on how young people make sense of themselves and their surroundings.

The overall idea of the Life Mode interview format is that the previous day or the previous week is used to structure the dialogue. From this format other research issues of interest such as style, youth culture and interactions with friends and the family may be explored. The running idea in the Live Mode Interview format is a focus on comprehensions that may seem self-evident and which often appear as taken for granted in the participants descriptions. The researchers who conduct the interviews are therefore trained to particularly pay attention to the content of concepts such as 'the popular girls', 'a nice body', 'too thin'. This is done by exploring and disentangling such statements as they emerge in the interview ('when you say it has been vital for you not to have sex with your boyfriend before you are ready, can you say something about what it means for you to be ready?). Although a focus on maintaining openness to the many statements and stories are crucial in most qualitative interviews, the running idea behind the Life Mode interview format is for the researcher to especially be attentive to issues which may appear self evident and familiar. From the participant's point of view, the focus on, for them, apparently evident details generated joyful comments such as: 'are you going to ask me about what I think of the clothes I wear this time as well?!'. It was also this aspect of the interview situation that were brought forward as the main topic when the participants after being interviewed discussed the study in the schoolyard.

A concern this way of interviewing calls attention to is the challenge of balancing the topics of interests so that questions, at least to a certain extent, 'follow' from descriptions given by the participant who is being interviewed. This means that the researcher never will name such as for instance a 'best friend' relation before such a concept is introduced by the participant. Like all qualitative interviewing, the researcher is thus faced with the challenge of steering the conversation from general descriptions towards more detailed elaborations ('thick descriptions'). Within this framework, the previous day thus becomes an aid to structure the conversations and to regain the initial focus ('I see, but if we return to when you got back from school...').

What can we learn of the processes through which young people acquire a sense of themselves across time from Life Mode interviews? Can descriptions of everyday practices and everyday lives that emerge from such an interview format provide knowledge of processes often referred to as development? In my opinion, it is the combination of the recognisable and known structure and inviting openness to the participant's reflections which is the strength of the Life Mode interview format. While the focus on everyday practices is a format with which even the youngest children are familiar, the data emerging from such a way of interviewing enables analysis of issues which have been explicitly elaborated ('I think my thighs are too fat, but my friend Ingrid, she's perfect!') and analysis that addresses the same issues more implicitly ('You know, a man can't be thin and scrawny 'cos a man's got to be able to protect himself'). Such explicit and implicit elaborations did in a number of ways address the research topics which the study aimed to explore. We were, for instance, interested in how gender was given meaning among those who participated in the study and one of the overall

research questions was to investigate how notions of gender affected possible ways of being and becoming across the many contexts in which the young people interacted. Although gender was explicitly addressed across all the interviews, it is nevertheless descriptions that do not necessarily address gender explicitly which may be analytically the most interesting; why do girls elaborate on body figure and appearance from the very first interviews while the issues of the body are absent or silenced in the interviews with boys of the same age? Why do particular ways of performing the body render the girl 'common' in ways that need no further explanation, while other performances create tensions the girl is forced to negotiate?

When it comes to what may be seen as a limitation of such a method, I will point to the scope of data emerging from the format. As the analyses have become more focused, I have sometimes called for more specificity and elaborations on particular issues. This was evident when analysing the way the children used their bodies when constituting themselves as adolescents. Here, one option could have been to conduct interviews that thematically focused on the body only: Why wasn't the body addressed more extensively in the interviews with the younger boys? Why didn't I ask the participants to recall how they perceived their bodies when younger, when we spoke in the final interviews? Distracted by hindsight, however, I neglected the fact that the focus of my analyses was more and more drawn towards how children deployed their bodies when constituting themselves as adolescents. That is, it was issues that emerged from the interviews that more and more came to guide the analytical enquiries that increasingly became the focus of the analysis. If how children deploy their bodies when constituting senses of themselves as adolescents had been the initial research focus, the interview questions

would have been very different. And if we had not asked for everyday practices, if we had neglected to address issues of gender, ethnicity and practices that changed with the becoming of age, the readings of the interviews might have highlighted other issues which would have given the analysis a different focus. Therefore, since the aim of the Life Mode interview is to maintain an open focus while also focusing in depth on selected topics, the format provides data which not would have been generated if the interview was more specific. Thus, what may be considered a weakness of the interview format, i.e. its broad scope, also represents the potential and strength of the method; in that the scope and openness to issues the children bring into the interviews make possible the rich and extensive data the method allows for. This richness is reflected in analyses that have applied this format (see e.g. Andenæs, 1994a,b, 1995, 2005; Gulbrandsen, 1998, 2000, 2003; Skjær Ulvik, 2007; Søndergaard, 2006) since the analyses are more grounded in the empirical material (although usually not as prescribed in Grounded Theory) than is the case in many analyses of qualitative interview data.

#### 4.5 Longitudinal qualitative methodology

Within qualitative research, studies that follow the participants over an extensive period of time constitute a relatively new methodology that has yet to be fully articulated as a coherent methodology (Neale & Flowerdew, 2003, p. 189). The thematic absence of such a design within the literature on qualitative methods is surprising considering such design is suitable for studying growth, change and transformation as situated in and across time (Thomson & Holland, 2003). This absence is also reflected in literature on qualitative interviews which mainly focuses on the single interview, thus failing to explain the

benefits and shortcomings of repeatedly interviewing the same participant. Rather than presenting a snapshot picture, longitudinal qualitative methodology can be seen as enabling a dynamic movie, since 'it is through time that we can begin to grasp [...] the strategies used by individuals to generate and manage change in their social life' (Neale & Flowerdew, 2003, p. 190).

Although longitudinal qualitative designs enable data to be produced across time, which in this present study allowed us to focus on how young people constitute senses of themselves as adolescents, one challenge that arises from such a design is how to deal with the extensive amount of data that emerged from it. In order to get a general view of all the interviews, I used the N-vivo which is a programme which is software for qualitative research. Although frequently referred to as a program for analysing qualitative data, it is my opinion that the program rather should be thought of as a useful tool for getting to know the data through coding and to do quick searches for particular concepts. When analysing the data more in depth, however, I drew on more recent adoptions of qualitative enquiry (Haavind, 2000ab), some of which leans heavily on post-structural theory (see Alvesson & Sköldberg, 2000; Law, 2004; Stormhøj, 2006) and feminist post-structuralism in particular (Søndergaard, 2002ab, 2005; Staunæs, 2003). These approaches to qualitative interview data are alike in considering data generated through empirical studies to contain the complexity, contradiction and messiness which characterise everyday life.

Aside from the comprehensive amount of data that emerge from studies that apply longitudinal designs, several more challenges that are actualised through such designs should be mentioned. One is the problem of getting hold of the participants during such

an extended length of time. Many of those who participated in the study lived in government housing, which meant that their parents continuously had to negotiate where to live next. Since we did not have access to national registers, we were unable to get hold of new addresses. Another concern was how many times we could contact those of the participants who hesitated when asked to take part in new interviews. The difficulty of maintaining contact with the participants was thus a recurring concern, particularly in the final phase of the study.

Studies in which children and adolescents participate and which apply longitudinal designs raise ethical issues around establishing relations that last over time, all for the sake of the researcher's need for collecting data. As regards the ethical implications of establishing relations with young people, I would see this as strength rather then a weakness of longitudinal qualitative research that involves children. This concerns the 'quality' of the interviews which often contain more elaborations and descriptions, which may be due to both the interviewer and the interviewee becoming more 'skilled' with practice. Also, knowing that there will be many interviews can also be a relief since it enables a re-telling and explanation of issues from one interview to the next; everything does not needs to be said all at once. Overall the participants expressed mainly positive feelings about being interviewed and the researchers generally reported feeling comfortable and enthusiastic as they got to know the participants.

#### 4.6 Getting to know each other through interviews

Since all participants predominantly were interviewed by the same researcher throughout the duration of the study, the researcher and the participant became better acquainted as the study progressed. For example, some participants would bring something they would like the interviewer to see such as DVDs, some would bring a particular kind of dish from their parents' home country and some would bring small gifts. Many were eager to talk about issues that had occupied them since the last interview. The participants would also ask questions of the researchers such as what it was like to study at the university, the researcher's occupational status, whether they had children, where they came from, and so on. This contributed to a particular kind of inter-subjective familiarity in that interviews would include references to earlier interviews ('Do you remember that I told you about me and Marcus having a fight?') as well as references to other participants.

When reading through the interviews in the aftermath of the study, one striking aspect is how the participant reflections and 'thick descriptions' become more detailed throughout the interview sequence. One assumption is to see this as a result of a 'maturation' of age. However, it may just as much reflect the participants becoming more familiar with the researcher and the interview style, as well as the researcher becoming more comfortable with interviewing through the acquisition of skills in the rather untypical conversation which qualitative interviewing represents.

Looking back on the ten years I have been involved in the study, and what seems like endless readings of the interview sequences that emerged from it, I am still struck by the enthusiasm and enjoyment that the participants expressed throughout the study.

Although longitudinal research with children raises some ethical dilemmas which I will return to, I am convinced of the advantages of using longitudinal designs when it comes to research that involves children and young people. The process of getting to know each other from interview to interview was primarily expressed as being something positive,

both by the participants and the interviewers, thus lending support to longitudinal qualitative studies that have reached similar conclusion (Thomson & Holland, 2003).

## 4.7 Analysing of processes of subjectivation

Interviews of children during their final year in primary school and the first year in secondary school, new follow-up interviews during the last year in secondary school and finally during their second year in upper secondary, provided empirical data that enable studying how subjects categorised as *children* and later *adolescents*, constitute and negotiate senses of themselves across shifting contexts and time. This particular data raised the question of how to analyse interview sequences, not only in terms of the challenges emerging from the amount of data, but also in terms of how to get knowledge of the processes through which young people became adolescents. Thus, one challenge I was faced with was how to account for 'the changing subject in process' (Thomson & Holland, 2003, p. 243) without reducing the complexities and contradictions such processes of subjectivation necessarily imply. How to analyse qualitative interviews when attempting to get knowledge of processes of being and becoming? How can qualitative interviews provide knowledge of processes of subjectivation and how can 'subjectivation' as a theoretical concept be read into qualitative interviews? If disregarding notions of 'development' as prevailing within conventional psychology, which other concepts of processes of continuity and change could else be used? And how can categories such as age, gender, sexuality and ethnicity serve as analytic tools in the study of the processes through which young people acquired senses of themselves as adolescents? Such questions, along with the comprehensive collection of data, demanded

analyses in each interview sequence as well as readings between interview sequences. These were analyses that required repeated readings with a particular focus on similarities as well as comparisons between similar and contrasting issues. How did each participant address own body and the body of others? If not explicitly addressed by the researcher, which overall issues conveyed the body? Which body were articulated as troublesome and which body was framed as worthwhile? In which interviews was the body apparent, and in which interviews was the body absent or silenced? How did meanings attached to the body intersect with other categories of identity such as age, gender, sexuality and ethnicity?

These analytic readings were inspired by research that have applied perspectives from feminist post-structuralism (see e.g. Youdell, 2004, 2005, 2006abc), which provided ways of grasping the complexity and ambiguity imbedded in the processes being and becoming as a particular boy or girl across contexts and time. Thus, research that draw on feminist post structuralist perspectives not only provided a theoretical frame of knowledge, but also offered useful and valuable descriptions of ways of analysing empirical data and comprehensions of what kind of knowledge qualitative analyses may provide.

The chosen theoretical perspectives have helped disentangle some of these complexities. However, since the interviews address a number of issues, they have informed the theoretical perspectives and made the applied theories meaningful and applicable as analytic tools. This mutual exchange and adjustment between readings of theory and interviews alike have been important in the process of elaborating, creating and generating the final analyses.

## 4.8 Reflections on trustworthiness, consistency and transferability

The chosen methodology and applied theories all reflect the epistemological affiliation of a study. As regards what is often referred to as trustworthiness (validity) and consistency (reliability), different qualitative epistemologies will address these issues differently. While a number of textbooks on qualitative methodology will argue for validity and reliability in ways that bear resemblance to criteria established within quantitative methodology (see e.g. Kvale, 1996, 2007; Silverman, 2000), others stress the necessity of elaborating criteria for the quality of research that goes beyond the conceptual framework offered by the natural sciences (see e.g. Harding, 1986; Keller, 1985; Lather, 1991). I will here draw on Fog (1994) who argues for the importance of using a terminology that suits the complexities and challenges that are particularly relevant to qualitative methodology. She makes a distinction between trustworthiness (validity) and consistency (reliability) in which the first refers to the internal procedures of a study and the latter refers to the interpretation and knowledge claims derived from the data. These are aspects which all pertain to the research process and knowledge production, and should therefore be seen as overlapping and mutually informed, rather than distinct and separate.

As concerns trustworthiness, the internal procedures of a study, we chose a longitudinal design since the aim was to collect data which made it possible to study processes of becoming across time. Ttrustworthiness also concerns the craftsmanship of the interviewer (Kvale, 2007). In this present study, this was sought through a number of means, such as the researcher's knowledge of qualitative methodology and the study's epistemology. All the researchers were introduced to the craftsmanship of qualitative interviewing such as how to be able to conduct interviews that could provide useful and

elaborated descriptions and the importance of keeping an open and explorative mind. All the interviewers also conducted pilot-interviews before the onset of the study.

As is customary within qualitative enquiry, we usually addressed issues of interest by beginning with open, explorative questions and gradually becoming more specific. Rather than assuming a common agreement with the participant, the researchers were aware of the importance of asking specific questions about how *this* particular girl or boy experienced *this* particular event. The latter is especially important when researching 'common' everyday issues which the researcher herself has much knowledge of, such as childhood, adolescence and the school day. This can make certain issues appear self-evident in ways that the researcher may take for granted, and thus leave them less subjected to exploration.

Another issue that we called attention to was how we as adult researchers comprehended the participants in the study. As Punch (2002) notes, how researchers see young people affects the way we listen to them. This means that if we perceive children as vulnerable, we are likely to be more careful when preparing and conducting interviews with them. Similarly, if we perceive children as very different from adults we are likely to interpret their accounts differently from those spoken by an adult. One way to solve this methodologically is suggested by Solberg (1996, p. 54), who argues that a certain 'ignorance of age may be a useful methodological technique to avoid the trap of regarding children's accounts as owing to their age, rather leaving age open to empirical investigation'. The analyses in the papers all depart from such a notion. Instead of seeing the participants' accounts as *owing* to age, they were analysed with a focus on how they might be viewed as *constitutive* of age.

Another concern in studies in which young people participate is the issue of the reliability of their accounts, an issue much debated within the literature on qualitative methodology (see Andenæs, 1991; Greene & Hill, 2005; Hogan, 2005; Komulainen, 2008; Nespor, 1998; Punch, 2002). The status given to children as participants in research is also much discussed. This particularly concerns their age and whether their statements may be seen to reflect the 'truth'. Embedded in this discussion is a notion of children as being potentially less reliable than adults. As Punch (2002) remarks, children, like adults, may lie to researchers or they may say what they think the researcher may like to hear. In numerous readings of the interview sequences, however, what struck me was the effort the participants made when attempting to describe their lives to the researchers. Thus, although the interviews cover descriptions that from one interview to another differ in ways which some epistemologies would consider as lies, and thus untrustworthy, it is my opinion that different versions of stories reveals the complexity which comprise processes of meaning-making. Consequently, explanations that changed from one interview to the next were merely viewed as reflecting the ongoing negotiations as embedded in processes of meaning-making in that meanings are not understood as fixed and stable so much as fluid and transformative.

With regard to interpretation of the interviews, being a group of researchers enabled us to discuss the many interpretations with others who were familiar with the study. Was such an interpretation sound? Were there other interpretations which would point to other issues? It also enabled us to ask the researcher who had conducted the interview if a particular interpretation cohered with her own comprehension of that particular issue.

Transferability relates to whether the interpretations derived from a study may be transferable to other contexts. In my opinion, the analyses in this thesis should not be viewed as unique to the participants in the present study. Instead, the analyses and conceptual frameworks detail processes which I will argue offer knowledge which pertains not only to the participants in the study. Instead,

#### 4.9 Ethical considerations

A study such as the present brings forward a number of ethical considerations, many of which particularly apply to research with children and young people. The study was designed to meet the requirements of the statutory data privacy administrated by The Norwegian Social Science Data Services, which have accepted the study. This means among other things to obtain informed consent by parents/guardians when young people of under age participate in a study. However, the law of protection of privacy makes clear that those who participate in a study must give their consent to participation. The main rule is that parents/guardians consent to participation until the participant reaches 18 years of age. The law of protection of privacy states that if the collected data is not sensitive character, the adolescent can give their consent from the age of 15. The study meets these requirements and is accepted by the NSD. Moreover, the law of protection of privacy states that even if parents give their consent for the child to participate in research, the child must give their accept if at a age where this is possible. The information given to the child should be formulated in ways that make it possible for the child to understand the aim of the research, and it is stressed that the child must be informed in ways that makes it possible for him or her to understand that participation is

voluntary. This issue of voluntary participation is considered particularly important if the research is conducted at institutions on which the child depends, such as schools, hospitals or sport clubs. These were considerations that continuously were attended to as the study went along. With no exceptions, all interviews started out informing of voluntary participation and the right anytime to withdraw from the study. The anonymity of data and professional secrecy was similarly a standard issue in the introduction of each interview.

# 5 Summary of papers

## 5.1 Summary of paper I

Title: Bodily practices and discourses of hetero-femininity: Girls' constitution of subjectivities in their social transition between childhood and adolescence This paper details how girls constitute and are constituted as adolescents by focusing on how they negotiate discourses of hetero-femininity through ways of conducting their bodies in relation to boys. Such negotiations become more explicit as the girls enter secondary school. The paper focuses on how four of the girls who participated in the study negotiate ways of conducting their bodies in relation to boys. This particularly concerns what are considered proper ways of dressing and relationships with boys such as hetero-romantic relations. The paper details how girls are required to negotiate discourses that embed complex intersections of categories such as gender, age, sexuality and religion when constituting themselves as adolescents across the many contexts in which they interact. Owing to the multiplicity of such intersections which are embedded within prevailing discourses, girls are positioned and position themselves within a number of subject positions when constituting themselves as adolescents and thus no longer as children. The paper argues that being and becoming an adolescent girl means continuously to negotiate oneself within or according to these discourses, particularly through ways of performing the body in relation to boys. Here, some ways of conducting the body constitute the girl within acknowledged intersections of age, sexuality and gender while other practices cause tense and difficult negotiations of possible ways of being and becoming. The paper argues that girls invent and insist upon the legitimacy of intersections of gender, age and sexuality, although such negotiations for many come at

an expense. One conclusion that emerges from the paper is the importance of paying attention to discourses of hetero-femininity, as well as how girls conduct their bodies in ways that position them according to these, when aiming to understand how girls in their diversity struggle and invest in the constitution of themselves as adolescents.

### 5.2 Summary of paper II

Title: Boys' bodies and the constitution of adolescent masculinities

The background for writing this paper was the way conventional psychology addresses phenomena referred to as 'development' as being the result of biology, thus ignoring how children and adolescents constitute and are constituted across contexts and time. The paper focuses on how children use and deploy their bodies when constituting themselves as adolescents, and thus no longer as children, an issue which is largely overlooked in conventional developmental psychology.

The analysis presented in this paper emerged from the observation that boys and girls articulate their bodies very differently throughout the interview sequences. The interviews with the girls aged twelve revealed that they elaborated many issues that concerned their bodies such as ways of dressing, hairstyle and body figure. They also deployed discourses that embedded notions of the female body and sexuality when reasoning which practices they might perform.

Analysis of interview sequences with the boys, however, revealed the young male body to be far more unarticulated and thus thematically absent. When the boys spoke their bodies into existence, however, they would draw on different discourses from the girls. For instance, while in primary school, the interviews with the boys revealed few

explicit references to the body other than as playful and spontaneously involved in practices they engage in, interviews conducted at secondary and upper secondary school embedded descriptions of the male body that leaned heavily on discourses of the male body in terms of technical competencies, endurance or strength. The paper illuminates how boys constitute senses of themselves in their social transition between childhood and adolescence by negotiating discourses of masculinity that in a number of ways address the male body. Demonstrating how prevailing discourses of gender and masculinity embed representations of ways of being and becoming as an adolescent boy, the paper illuminates how the male body becomes a domain for development in young boys becoming of age. The article argues that the constitution of oneself as an adolescent boy involves having to negotiate intersections of masculinity and age as embedded within discourses that prevail in their contexts of interaction. The paper suggests that discourses that are deployed in contexts of interactions influence possible ways of being and becoming as an adolescent boy. The paper further emphasises focusing on how discourses of masculinity shape and direct possible ways of being and becoming an adolescent boy.

### 5.3 Summary of paper III

Title: The constitution of self from 'child' to 'adolescent': Young people's processes of subjectivation between categories of age

On the basis of the empirical analyses emerging from paper I and paper II, paper III delineates the analytical framework outlined in the first two papers and suggests a conceptual framework of how children constitute and are constituted as adolescents

through processes in this paper referred to as processes of subjectivation. In detailing such processes, the paper argues for the importance of the suggested framework when furthering knowledge of processes usually referred to as *development*. Thus, the first paper focuses on gender discourses that address the male body in ways which make the young male body a domain for development. The second paper elaborates how girls conduct their bodies when positioning themselves within discourses that intersect with notions of age, gender and sexuality. Departing from the empirical analyses in these papers, the third and final paper in this thesis more closely illuminates a framework of the processes through which young people become who they are. The paper shows how perspectives and concepts emerging from feminist post-structural theory may be applied as analytical tools in attempts to understand how young people constitute themselves and are constituted within categories of age. It is argued that age is constituted through performance of bodily practices along chronologies as embedded in discourses children encounter with the becoming of age. Age thus becomes a matter of how the young person performs practices along such chronologies, how s/he performs the particular practices and which of the many chronologies that prevail as common in multicultural contexts that are being applied. The suggested framework posits that young people constitute themselves within categories of age by conducting their bodies in ways they consider expected of them due to their age, gender and ethnicity, as such expectations are embedded in discourse.

Two main conclusions emerge from this paper. First, the paper stresses the importance of calling attention to ways of conducting the body along chronologies as embedded in discourse when we try to understand the processes through which young

people become adolescents. Second, the paper emphasises the importance of applying a methodology that includes temporality when we try to understand the processes through which children and adolescents become who they are.

### 6 Discussion

## 6.1 Issues of power and agency

The papers in this thesis examine the processes through which young people constitute and are constituted as adolescents. The analytic focus is on how young people use and deploy their bodies, and how the different bodily practices are interpreted and given meaning by themselves and their surroundings. In discussing the processes, which can be referred to as *processes of subjectivation*, I will pay particular attention to three issues: 1) how power plays into processes of subjectivation; 2) the issue of the subjects agency within such processes; and finally 3) whether it is useful to understand processes of subjectivation as 'development'. The following discussion will elaborate issues of power and agency in relation to the processes through which children become adolescents as outlined in this thesis.

#### 6.2 What about power?

As explained in previous sections, the perspectives that have influenced and inspired the analyses presented in the three papers is research and theorisation emerging from a field which broadly can be referred to as feminist post-structuralism. A key assumption that exists not only within feminist post-structuralism, but in post-structuralism in general, regards to how subjects are subjected to power. Butler (1997, p. 2) draws on Foucault's notion when she elaborates this further:

We are used to thinking of power as what presses on the subject from the outside, as what subordinates, sets underneath, and regulates to a lower order. [...] But if,

following Foucault, we understand power as *forming* the subject as well as providing the very condition of its existence and the trajectory of desire, then power is not simply what we oppose but also, in a strong sense, what we depend on for our existence and what we harbour and preserve in the being that we are.

If we follow such a notion, power may be seen as embedded in the processes through which people are constituted as particular subjects. For Foucault, processes of subjectivation take place centrally through the body (Butler, 1997), and power is exercised, for instance, through knowledge such as that considered 'common', 'strange', 'right' or 'wrong'. Such knowledge is embedded in discourse and produce inclusions and exclusions, dominance and submission. Instead of power being seen as something that is possessed and asserted, subjects are instead seen as subjected to discourse in the sense that who they become and how they experience themselves – how they act, think and feel – come about through discourse.

However, although the concept of power is not made explicit in none of the thesis papers, all illuminate discourses as not existing in what Weedon (1987, p. 107) refers to as a 'bipolar' relation of power and powerlessness. Instead, young people continuously negotiate themselves within or according to discourses, some of which they will claim to belong, while they experience others as tense and troubled. They reject discourses they encounter, subvert some and contribute to invent new comprehensions. The point is that power, as embedded in discourses, affects how young people experience themselves and each other. Ways of being are regulated through what prevails as common in discourses.

An example from paper I can be used to illustrate this point further. It is common for the girls who participated in the study at a certain point to encounter discourses of heterofemininity that embed different intersections of gender, age and sexuality. These discourses embed knowledge claims that frame girls as 'keepers' and 'protectors' of female sexuality which, depending on how this sexuality is attended to through ways of performing the body, constitute girls as 'cheap', 'decent' and so on. For instance, some discourses of hetero-femininity assert progression in hetero-sexual intimacy as 'usual' and 'natural' in adolescence. This knowledge claim regulates which practices girls and boys may deploy, and which practices people in their surroundings such as parents, siblings and teachers expect them to deploy. It creates processes through which some girls are included and others are excluded. Although the practices that are considered 'proper' to maintain a subjectivity as an untroubled girl differ, however, the becoming as an adolescent nevertheless forces girls to negotiate the knowledge claims as embedded in discourses of hetero-femininity. Power can thus be seen as embedded in such processes through the bodily practices of subjectivation which young people adopt or refrain from adopting.

## 6.3 What about agency?

While conventional developmental psychology has a tradition of positing the child as developing through processes in which s/he holds no agency, the approach outlined in this thesis posits children as far more active in the processes through which they become adolescents. Young people are considered basically social and competent in the present, thus not only as potentially competent in their future. At the same time, all the papers

acknowledge the constitutive force as embedded in the discourses that prevail in the many contexts in which the young people interact.

To claim subjectivity as discursively or performatively constituted is central to the work of Foucault and Butler. As Søndergaard (1996, p. 240) points out, however, there is a duality embedded in processes of subjectivation; it is through discursive practices and culture that the subject becomes intelligible and acknowledged as a subject, but it is also through these very same processes that embed the subject's own creative and agentive force. When investigating subject agency in Butler's writing, Davies suggests an agency in which 'they [subjects] can reflexively and *critically examine their conditions of possibility* and in which they can both subvert and eclipse the powers that act on them and which they enact' (Davies, 2006, p. 426, italics added). The inextricable duality in these processes is important to emphasise since young people *constitute* themselves as subject at the same time as they are *constituted* as subjects. They *develop* and are *developed*. They *do* and *become*. The processes through which young people acquire a sense of themselves and through which they become who they are are thus far more complex than either an active or a passive notion of agency and power may suggest.

The process of transformation, then, is not so much the result of a rational choice to be someone or something else in particular, but a movement, a 'decomposition', an engagement in a messy process in which one 'scrapes and catches and drags' in a complex process of

reinscription, of rubbing out the unthinkable; a decomposition, and a fractured, messy recomposition, of thought and of body.

Thus, the processes by which children constitute themselves and are constituted as adolescents can be viewed as involving ways of conducting body, which children and adolescents may not perform with any reflection other than these as usual practices owing to their age and gender.

# 7 Implications of study and concluding remarks

## 7.1 Bringing the body back in psychology

One of the main implications emerging from this thesis is an urge to rethink the significance of the body when we try to understand how young people become their age. Instead of seeing the body as an entity that is 'already there', the papers in the thesis all demonstrate the importance of attending to how children and adolescents use and deploy their bodies as part of their everyday interactions. As argued in all three papers, ways of conducting the body are constitutive in the sense that it is not arbitrary which bodily practices young people deploy and in which contexts they perform them. Instead, the practices young people deploy on and with their bodies should be seen as attempts and insistences on being and becoming particular girls and boys across the many contexts in which they interact. Therefore the papers focus on the becoming of age by attending to the bodily practices and the many discourses young people encounter during a time when categories of age are particularly salient.

## 7.2 Longitudinal methodology in study of processes in time

The conceptual and analytical frameworks suggested in the papers have implications for the fields of childhood studies and education in general and developmental psychology in particular. First of all, as regards conducting interviews with the same participants over the course of several years, the papers in the thesis demonstrate the importance of using a methodology that includes time when we study how children and adolescents constitute themselves within and against complex and multifaceted meanings-systems that are

embedded in discourses. The papers attend to how young people negotiate such discourses and how these negotiations affect possible ways of becoming. It is important to note that the exploration of such ongoing negotiations would not have been possible without following the participants for an extensive period of time. It is research designs such as the one chosen for the study on which this thesis is based, which enable us to explore questions such as: Which notions of possible ways of being and becoming do each girl and boy negotiate, resist and subvert when becoming who they are? How do they deal over time with the tensions that arise between how they experience themselves and expectations they encounter across the life course?

While much research that addresses children and adolescents take a critical stance as regards developmental psychology, most of these studies fail to acknowledge the significance of time in the study of processes (which do not necessarily concern time in a linear and progressive manner so much as circular and recursive composition of the present, the future and the previous). On the contrary, the field of development psychology needs to acknowledge methodologies and theoretical framework that may disentangle the rather solid, impermeable substance the discipline has come to represent.

## 7.3 Processes of subjectivation as development

Another concern in this thesis has been to explore and detail the processes through which children become adolescents. That is, the thesis is based on young people's descriptions of themselves, which discourses they make relevant, how they comprehend themselves and what they do or refrain from doing, when becoming who they are across time. Thus, while conventional developmental psychology measures the changes and transformations

of children and adolescents by the use of standardised tests, this thesis offers an understanding of how children become adolescents that starts from their descriptions of their everyday lives. In focusing on 'those who are developed' and their own descriptions of how they 'develop themselves'; how they deploy their bodies and how they negotiate discourses - the papers see such negotiations as processes of subjectivation. These are the processes through which young people become who they are. The thesis thus offers a conceptual and analytical framework which provides a way of understanding some of the processes that within conventional psychology is referred to as *development*. However, while Foucault draws attention to how psychology produces discourses of the child that normalize and thus regulate what are considered 'normal' ways for children to develop (McNaughton, 2005), neither Foucault nor Butler attempted to theorize the processes through which young people constitute themselves, and are constituted within categories of age. Thus, although feminist post-structuralist writings are concerned with how the subject comes into being, i.e., the processes through which the subject is constituted as a subject, such processes are not referred to as development. One aim of the thesis has been to rework these theoretical frameworks and point out their potentials, thus offering knowledge of the processes through which children become adolescents.

The question is then how the papers in this thesis enter into the field of developmental psychology. Rather than rejecting the concept of *development* because of the often rigid notion of change and transformation it encompasses, I think it is vital to insist on expanding theoretical frameworks and methodologies, and insist on the usefulness and importance of expanding developmental psychological frameworks.

Ongoing exploration of possible combinations of theoretical perspectives and

methodologies enriches any research field. It is also through such openness to the many possible ways of producing knowledge that we escape some knowledge manifesting itself as regimes of truth. This is important, not only for the discipline of developmental psychology itself but for the provision of multifaceted knowledge that challenges and destabilises universal truths of age categories through which young people may interpret them selves. It is my opinion that research on children and adolescents, no matter which professional discipline it evolves from, will benefit from an increased openness to the exploration of methodologies and theoretical frameworks. If we acknowledge the processes through which young people become who they are as representing some of the most intriguing issues within disciplines such as developmental psychology, childhood studies and educational research, methodological and theoretical expansion is a presupposition for furthering knowledge.

## 8 References

- Alvesson, M., & Sköldberg, K. (2000). Reflexive methodology. London: Sage.
- Andenæs, A. (1991). Fra undersøkelsesobjekt til medforsker? Livsformsintervju med 4–5 åringer. [From research object to co-researcher. Life mode interviews with 4-5-year-olds]. *Nordisk Psykologi, 43*(4), 274-292.
- Andenæs, A. (1994a). Små barns utvikling sett innenifra og utenifra I. Hvilken forståelser har fire-åringer og deres foreldre av utvikling? [The development of small children as seen from within and from the outside I]. *Tidsskrift for Norsk Psykologiforening*, 31, 481-494.
- Andenæs, A. (1994b). Små barns utvikling sett innenifra og utenifra II. Et sosiokulturelt syn på utvikling hos fire-femåringer. [The development of small children as seen from within and from the outside II]. *Tidsskrift for Norsk Psykologforening*, 31, 481-494.
- Andenæs, A. (1995). Theories of development from the perspective of the children, their parents and the scientists. *Researching Early Childhood*, *3*(1), 51-73.
- Andenæs, A. (2005). Neutral claims gendered meanings. Parenthood and developmental psychology in a modern welfare state. Feminism & Psychology, 15(2), 209-226.
- Arnett, J. (1999). Adolescent storm and stress, reconsidered. *American Psychologist*, *54*, 5, 317-326.
- Berthoud, R. (2000). Introduction: the dynamics of social change. In R. Berthoud and J. Gershuny (eds.) *Seven years in the Lives of British families*. Bristol: Policy Press.

Bradley, H. (1996). *Fractured identities. Changing patterns of inequality*. Cambridge: Polity Press.

Braun, V. (2000). Conceptualising the body. Feminism & Psychology, 10(4), 511-518.

Budgeon, S. (2003). Identity as an embodied event. Body & Society, 9(1), 35-55.

Burkitt, I. (1999). Bodies of thought. London: Sage.

Burman, E. (1994). Deconstructing developmental psychology. London: Routledge.

Burman, E. (1996). Constructing and deconstructing childhood: Images of children and charity appeals (pp.170-184). In J. Haworth (Ed.), *Psychological research: Innovative methods and strategies*. London: Routledge.

Burman, E. (1997). Developmental psychology and its discontents (pp. 134-149). In D. Fox & I. Prilleltensky (Eds.), *Critical psychology: An introduction*. London: Sage.

Burman, E. (1998). The child, the woman and the cyborg: (im)possibilities of feminist developmental psychology (pp. 210-232). In K. Henwood & C. Griffin (Eds.), Standpoints and differences: Essays in the practice of feminist psychology. London: Sage.

Burman, E. (2008). Deconstructing developmental psychology. London: Routledge.

Burr, V. (1995). An introduction to social constructionism. London: Routledge.

Butler, J. (1990). Gender trouble. New York: Routledge.

Butler, J. (1993). Bodies that matter. New York. Routledge.

Butler, J. (1997). The psychic life of power. Stanford, CA: Stanford University Press.

Butler, J. (1999). Foucault and the paradox of bodily inscriptions (pp. 307-314). In D. Welton (Ed.), *The Body*. Malden, MA: Blackwell.

- Butterworth, G., & Harris, M. (1994). *Principles of developmental psychology*. East Sussex: Psychology Press Ltd.
- Cole, M., & Cole, S.R. (1996). The development of children. New York: Freeman.
- Crossley, N. (2001). The social body. Habit, identity and desire. London: Sage.
- Davies, B. (2006). Subjectification: The relevance of Butler's analysis for education.

  \*British Journal of Sociology of Education, 27(4), 425-438.
- Davies, B., Browne, J., Gannon, S., Hopkins, L., McCann, H., & Wihlborg, M. (2006).
  Constituting the Feminist Subject in Poststructuralist Discourse. *Feminism and Psychology*, 16(1), 87-103.
- Davies, K. (1997). Embody-ing theory. Beyond modernist and postmodernist readings of the body (pp. 1-26). In K.Davies (Ed.), *Embodied practices*. *Feminist perspectives on the body*. London: Sage.
- Finlay, L. (2006). The body's disclosure in phenomenological research. *Qualitative*\*Research in Psychology, 3(1), 19-30.
- Fog, J. (1994). *Med samtalen som udgangspunkt* [Departing from the dialogue]. Aarhus: Akademisk Forlag A/S.
- Foucault, M. (1984). Docile bodies (pp. 179-187). In P. Rabinow (Ed.), *The Foucault reader*. New York: Pantheon Books.
- Foucault, M. (1990). The history of sexuality. An introduction. New York: Vintage.
- Frost, L. (2001). Young women and the body: a feminist sociology. Basingstoke: Palgrave.
- Frost, L. (2005). Theorizing the young woman in the body. *Body and Society*, 11(1), 63-85.

- Gill, R., Henwood, K., & McLean, C. (2005). The tyranny of the 'six-pack'?
  Understanding men's responses to representations of the male body in popular culture (pp. 100-117). In C. Squire (Ed.), Culture in psychology. London:
  Routledge.
- Greene, S., & Hill, D. (Eds.) (2005). Researching children's experience: Approaches and methods. London: Sage.
- Gulbrandsen, L. M. (1998). *I barns dagligliv*. [In the everyday lives of children]. Oslo: Universitetsforlaget.
- Gulbrandsen, L. M. (2000). Samspill mellom barn som kjønnskapte og kjønnskapende prosesser. Et analytisk perspektiv. [Children's interactions as created by gender and as creating gender. An analytical perspective]. In H. Haavind (Ed.), *Kjønn og fortolkende metode* [Gender and interpretational research]. Oslo: Gyldendal Akademisk.
- Gulbrandsen, L. M. (2003). Peer relations as arenas for gender constructions among young teenagers. *Pedagogy, Culture & Society, 11*(1), 113-132.
- Gulbrandsen, L. M. (2006). Fra småjenter til ungjenter: heteroseksualitet som normativ utviklingsretning. [From small girls to young girls: Heterosexuality as the normative developmental direction]. *Kjønnsforskning*, 4, 5-20.
- Haavind, H. (1987). *Liten og stor. Mødres omsorg og barns utviklingsmuligheter*. [The big one and the little one. The organisation of care by mothers and the possibilities for development in children]. Oslo: Universitetsforlaget.

- Haavind, H. (2000a). På jakt etter kjønnede betydninger [Searching for gendered meanings] (pp. 7-59). In H. Haavind (Ed.), *Kjønn og fortolkende metode*. Oslo:Gyldendal Akademisk.
- Haavind, H. (2000b). Analytiske retningslinjer ved empiriske studier av kjønnede betydninger [Analytical guidelines in empirical research on gendered meanings]

  (pp. 155-219). In H. Haavind (Ed.), *Kjønn og fortolkende metode*. Oslo: Gyldendal Akademisk.
- Haavind, H. (2003). Masculinity by rule-breaking. Cultural contestations in the transitional move from being a child to being a young male. *Nora*, *11*, 89-100.
- Haavind, H. (2007). Accountability in persons. What is in the telling to others about yourself? (pp. 159-178). In D. Staunæs & J. Kofoed (Eds.), *Magtballader*. [Plays in power]. Copenhagen: Danmarks Pædagogiske Universitets Forlag.
- Haavind, H. (2008). Contesting and recognizing historical changes and selves in development. Unpublished manuscript. Department of Psychology, University of Oslo.
- Harding, S. (1986). *The science question in feminism*. Open University Press: Milton Keynes.
- Hauge, M. I. (2001). Kropp, klær, seksualitet. Konstruksjoner av kjønn blant jenter i 12-14 års alder. [Body, clothes, sexuality: Constructions of gender among 12-14-yearold girls] Master's thesis, Department of Psychology, Norwegian University of Science and Technology.

- Hauge, M. I. (2003). Jenter i virvelvind. Konstruksjoner av kjønn, alder og etnisitet blant jenter i 12 14 års aldermen. [Girls in the whirlwind. Constructions of gender, age and ethnicity among 12-14-year-old girls]. *Kvinneforskning*, 3, 32-43.
- Hogan, S. (2005). Researching children's experience. Approaches and methods. London: Sage.
- Horowitz, F. D. (1987). Exploring developmental theories. Toward a structural/behavioural model of development. Hillsdale, NJ: Erlbaum.
- Jipson, J. (2001). Resistance and representation (pp. 1-12). Rethinking childhood education. In J.Jipson & R. Johnson (Eds.), Representation. Rethinking childhood education. New York: Peter Lang.
- Keller, E. (1985). Reflections on gender and science. New Haven, Conn.: Yale University Press.
- Komulainen, S. (2008). The ambiguity of the child's 'voice' in social research. *Childhoods*, *14*(1), 11-28.
- Kvale, S. (1996). Interviews. London: Sage.
- Kvale, S. (2007). Doing interviews. London: Sage.
- Lather, P. (1991). Getting smart. Feminist research and pedagogy with/in the postmodern. New York: Routledge.
- Law, J. (2004) After method: Mess in social science research. London: Routledge.
- Lerner, R. M. (1986). *Concepts and theories of human development*. New York: McGraw-Hill.
- Lesko, N. (2001). Act your age! A cultural construction of adolescence. London: Routledge.
- McNaughton, G. (2005). *Doing Foucault in early childhood studies. Applying post*structural ideas. London: Routledge.

- McLeod, S. (2003). Why we interview now. Reflexivity and perspective in a longitudinal study. *International Journal of Social Research Methodology*, 6(3), 201-211.
- Morss, J. (1996). *Growing critical: Alternatives to developmental psychology*. London: Routledge.
- Nayak, A., & Kehily, M. J. (2006). Gender undone: subversion, regulation and embodiment in the work of Judith Butler. *British Journal of Sociology of Education*, 2(4), 459-472.
- Neale, B., & Flowerdew, J. (2003). Time, texture and childhood: The contours of longitudinal qualitative research. *International Journal of Social Research Methodology*, 6(3), 189-199.
- Nespor, J. (1998). The meaning of research: Kids as subjects and kids as inquirers. *Qualitative Inquiry*, 4(3), 369-388.
- Paechter, C. (2003). Masculinities and femininities as communities of practice. *Women's Studies International Forum*, 26(1), 69-77.
- Paechter, C. (2006). Reconceptualising the gendered body: Learning and constructing masculinities and femininities in school. *Gender and Education*, 18(2), 121-135.
- Punch, S. (2002). Research with children. The same or different from adults? *Childhood,* 9(3), 321-341.
- Rabinow, P. (1984). Introduction (pp. 3 29). In P. Rabinow (Ed.), *The Foucault reader*. New York: Pantheon.
- Renold, E. (2005). Girls, boys, and junior sexualities. London: RoutledgeFalmer Shilling, C. (2003). *The body and social theory*. London: Sage.
- Shilling, C. (2005). The body in culture, technology & society. London: Sage.

- Silverman, D. (2000). Doing qualitative research: A practical handbook. London: Sage.
- Smith, A. (2007). The evolution of human cognition and neuroscience: A dialogue between scientist and humanists. *Journal of Physiology Paris*, 101(4), 149-152.
- Solberg, A. (1996). The challenge in child research: From 'being' to 'doing' (pp. 53 64).

  In J. Brannen & M. O'Brien (Eds.), *Children in families: Research and policy*.

  London: Falmer Press.
- Søndergaard, D. M. (1996). *Tegnet på kroppen* [The Sign on the Body]. København:

  Museum Tusculanums Forlag.
- Søndergaard, D. M. (2002a). Poststructuralist approaches to empirical analysis. *Qualitative Studies in Education*, 15(2), 187-204.
- Søndergaard, D. M. (2002b). Theorizing subjectivity: Contesting the monopoly of psycholoanalysis. *Feminism and Psychology*, *12*(4), 445-454.
- Søndergaard, D. M. (2005). At forske i komplekse tilblivelser. Kulturanalytiske, narrative og poststrukturalistiske tilgange til empirisk forskning. .[Doing research in complex genesis: Cultureanalytical, narrative and poststructuralist approaches to empirical research]. Copenhagen: Roskilde Universitetsforlag og Samfundslitteratur.
- Staunæs, D. (2003). Where have all the subjects gone? Bringing together the concepts of intersectionality and subjectification. *Nora*, 11(2), 101-110.
- Staunæs, D. (2004). *Køn, etnicitiet og skoleliv*. [Gender, ethnicity and school life]. Frederiksberg: Forlaget Samfundslitteratur.
- Staunæs, D. (2005). From culturally avant-garde to sexually promiscuous: troubling subjectivities and intersections in the social transition from childhood to youth. Feminism and Psychology, 15(2), 149-167.

- Stormhøj, C. (2006). *Poststrukturalismer. Videnskapsteori, analysetrategi, kritik.*[Post structuralisms. Epistemology, analytic strategies and criticism].

  Frederiksberg: Forlaget Samfundslitteratur.
- Swain, J. (2003). How young schoolboys become somebody: the role of the body in the construction of masculinity. *British Journal of Sociology of Education*, 24(3), 299-318.
- Thomson, R., & Holland, J. (2003). Hindsight, foresight and insight: The challenges of longitudinal qualitative research. *International Journal of Social Research*Methodology, 6(3), 233-244.
- Thorne, B. (1993). *Gender play: Girls and boys in school*. New Brunswick: Rutgers University Press.
- Torstenson-Ed, T. (2007). Children's life paths through preschool and school: Letting youths talk about their won childhood theoretical and methodological conclusions. *Childhood*, *14*(1), 47-66.
- Ulvik, O. S. (2007). Seinmoderne fosterfamilier. En kulturpsykologisk studie av barn og voksnes fortellinger. [Foster families in a late modern society: A cultural psychological study of the narratives of children and adults]. Oslo: Unipub
- Weedon, C. (1987). Feminist practice and poststructuralist theory. Oxford: Blackwell.
- Woollett, A., & Marshall, H. (1997). Reading the body. Young women's accounts of their bodies in relation to autonomy and independence (pp. 27-40). In K. Davis (Ed.), *Embodied Practices*. London: Sage.
- Youdell, D. (2004). Wounds and re inscriptions: Schools, sexualities and performative subjects. *Discourse*, *25*(4), 477-493.

- Youdell, D. (2005). Sex gender sexuality: How sex, gender and sexuality constellations are constituted in secondary schools. *Gender and Education*, 17(3), 249-270.
- Youdell, D. (2006a). Subjectivation and performative politics Butler thinking Althusser and Foucault: Intelligibility, agency and the raced-nationed-religioned subjects of education. *Gender and Education*, 27(4), 511-528.
- Youdell, D. (2006b). Diversity, inequality, and a post-structural politics for education. *Discourse*, 27(1), 33-42.
- Youdell, D. (2006c). *Impossible bodies, impossible selves: Exclusions and student subjectivities*. London: Springer.